

## REGULATIONS OF THE PEOPLE'S REPUBLIC OF CHINA (PRC) ON THE PREVENTION AND CONTROL OF MARINE POLLUTION FROM SHIPS

China SPRO Frequently Asked Questions [FAQs] as at 20March 2012 Compliance date —1 January 2012. The above Regulations require owners/operators of (a) any ship carrying polluting and hazardous cargoes in bulk or (b) any other vessel above 10,000 gt to enter into a pollution clean-up contract with a Maritime Safety Agency (MSA) approved Ship Pollution Response Organisation before the vessel enters a PRC port. The requirements do not apply to Hong Kong or Macau or inland waterways in China PRC except Nantong (see Q&A. 43). These FAQs reflect guidance given by the MSA and are believed to be correct as at 20 March 2012, but further updates may be necessary as the situation develops.

## **CONTENTS**

Ship Pollution Response Organisations (SPROs) Approval of SPROs	2
Signatories to the Clean-Up Agreement	3
Letter of authorisation (LOA)	
The agent in China	
Electronic documents and signatures	
Legal Representative	7
The contract	
One stop service/ umbrella SPROs/ alliances/ consortia	12
Retainer/Standby fees	14
Response tariffs	14
Check List for contracts:	16

KISH PAI CLUB



## SHIP POLLUTION RESPONSE ORGANISATIONS (SPROS) APPROVAL OF SPROS

1.ARE THE CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS NOW BEING STRICTLY ENFORCED IN ALL CHINESE PORTS?

From 1 March 2012, the China MSA had indicated that there would be strict enforcement of the contract requirements. It is possible that some local MSAs are more rigorously enforcing the requirements than others, but in any event owners are strongly recommended to ensure full compliance with the contract requirements in order to avoid fines and possible delay in port.

#### 2. WHAT IS AN MSA APPROVED SPRO?

It is the clean-up organisation approved by the MSA and found to meet the requirements listed in the guidelines for Capacity Evaluations of SPROs. This means that such SPROs are approved to contract with the owner/operator for pollution response for Level 1, Level 2, Level 3 or Level 4. (For an explanation of "levels" see section on "levels for SPROs" below) Please note that this does not necessarily mean that the SPRO will operate on terms which conformwith the International Group guidelines see Q&A 28, 32 - 35 below.

## 3.WILL A "CERTIFICATE" BE ISSUED BY THE MSA SHOWING EVIDENCE THAT A SPRO HAS BEEN APPROVED?

A SPRO will receive a certificate showing that it has been approved by the MSA for clean-up response. This is called a Ship Pollution Response Unit Qualification Certificate (Article 10 of the Detailed Rules of the MSA of the PRC on the implementation of the Administration Regime of Agreement for Ship Pollution Response (Detailed Rules)). Such a certificate is normally valid for 3 years.

4.WILL A "CERTIFICATE" BE ISSUED BY MSA TO OWNERS/OPERATORS SHOWING THAT THE OWNERS/OPERATORS HAVE SATISFIED THE REQUIREMENT TO CONTRACT WITH A SPRO?

No.

5.HOW WILL WE AS THE OWNER/OPERATOR KNOW THAT A SPRO HAS BEEN APPROVED?

A list of MSA approved SPROs is published in Chinese on the MSA website:



## http://msa.gov.cn/Notice/NotList/00000000-0000-0300-040000000008

The List also states the area where the SPRO is authorised to operate. Most are only authorised to operate in the port and near shore waters. However some are authorised to operate 20 miles off the shore, some in Shanghai are only authorised to operate within the port area and one is authorised to operate offshore (Tianjin). An unofficial English translation of this list is shown on all club websites and is updated regularly. Click here for an unofficial English translation.

The SPRO must be domiciled in mainland China.

6.WE, AS THE OVERSEAS OWNER/OPERATOR ALREADY CONTRACT WITH AN APPROVED CONTRACTOR FOR SLUDGE REMOVAL. DO WE NEED TO ENTER INTO ANOTHER CONTRACT FOR CLEAN-UP RESPONSE?

Yes. The requirements for sludge removal are completely separate from clean-up response. There is a separate approval procedure for sludge contractors and for clean-up contractors.

## SIGNATORIES TO THE CLEAN-UP AGREEMENT

Who should sign the clean-up agreement between the owner/operator and the SPRO?

7.CAN WE, AS AN OWNER/OPERATOR BASED IN CHINA, SIGN THE CONTRACT DIRECTLY WITH SPROS? WHO IN OUR COMPANY CAN SIGN SUCH A CONTRACT?

If you are domiciled in China then you must contract directly with a SPRO. The Legal Representative in your office must sign the clean-up Agreement.

8.WE, AS THE OVERSEAS OWNER/OPERATOR HAVE A BRANCH OFFICE IN CHINA, CAN WE SIGN THE CONTRACT DIRECTLY WITH SPROS? WHO IN OUR COMPANY CAN SIGN SUCH A CONTRACT?

If you have a branch company or office or representative in China then you can either contract directly with a SPRO or through an MSA approved agent. (Clause I of MSA Notice 2011 No. 3 of 22 December)

Where the contract is signed directly by the Branch Office, without an agent, the Legal Representative in your branch office must sign the clean-up Agreement. Where this is the case the branch office must file the certificate of incorporation (business certificate) and letter of authorisation to the China MSA (see section below on letter of authorisation). If the contract covers multiple port entries the documents must be filed with China MSA, Beijing. However, if the branch office is signing only where the ship calls at one specific port, then the documents can be filed with the local MSA of the region in which that port is located.



# 9.WE ARE AN OVERSEAS OPERATOR AND DO NOT HAVE A BRANCH COMPANY OR OFFICE OR REPRESENTATIVE IN CHINA, WILL WE NEED AN AGENT TO SIGN ON OUR BEHALF?

No, it is not necessary. An overseas operator may choose to sign a clean-up contract directly with an MSA approved SPRO or appoint an MSA approved agent to sign the contract on their behalf. In addition the master of the ship may sign a contract direct with the SPRO provided he is authorised to do so by the overseas operator (see below Q&A15). It is recommended that the master only signs the contract with the SPRO in cases of emergency since this could delay completion of arrival formalities for the ship in some cases. If the contract is signed through the master of a vessel, a ship's chop or stamp should be stamped on the contract.

10.WE ARE AN OVERSEAS OPERATOR WITH A BRANCH OFFICE IN CHINA BUT THE BRANCH OFFICE DOES NOT HAVE THE RESOURCES TO CONCLUDE CONTRACTS WITH SPROS DIRECTLY, CAN WE USE AN AGENT TO SIGN THE CONTRACT WITH SPROS ON OUR BEHALF? IF WE CAN, WHO IN THE COMPANY SHOULD APPOINT THE AGENT, THE OVERSEAS HEAD OFFICE OR THE BRANCH OFFICE IN CHINA?

The contract can be signed either by the Legal Representative of the overseas operator, the Legal Representative of the overseas operator's branch office (but see Q&A 16 below) or by an MSA approved Agent. If an Agent is to be used the Legal Representative of the overseas operator should appoint the agent using an LOA and in some cases a contract, see Q&A 14 below.

# 11.WHO, IN THE HEAD OFFICE OR BRANCH OFFICE OF THE OVERSEAS OPERATOR, SHOULD SIGN THE CONTRACT WITH THE SPRO?

KISH PAI CLUB

The Legal Representative in the relevant office or other person legally authorised to do so. In exceptional circumstances the master may sign the contract on behalf of the owner/operator but see Q&A 15 below under Letter of Authorisation(LOA).

## 12. WHO SHOULD SIGN THE CONTRACT ON BEHALF OF THE SPRO?

The Legal Representative or another person legally authorised to do so by the SPRO. It is recommended that the SPRO should also put a company stamp on the contract in addition to the signature because company stamps are more important in China than signatures. All the company chops/stamp are filed with local police in China.



## 13.SHOULD A CHARTERER SIGN THE CONTRACT WITH AN APPROVED SPRO?

No. Although the definition of "operator" included in the Detailed Rules refers to the owner, manager or actual operator of a ship, which might conceivably include the charterer, it is the owner or manager of the ship who has primary liability in the case of a spill and it is therefore the owner who should sign the contract with the SPROand have control of the clean-up operation in the event of a spill not the charterer. Club cover may fall away for a charterer who voluntarily assumes pollution liabilities by contracting with a SPRO.

## LETTER OF AUTHORISATION (LOA)

14. IF, AS AN OVERSEAS OPERATOR WITHOUT A BRANCH COMPANY, OFFICE OR REPRESENTATIVE IN CHINA, WE CHOOSE TO EMPLOY AN MSA APPROVED AGENT TO SIGN THE CONTRACT WITH THE SPRO, DO WE ALSO NEED TO SIGN A CONTRACT WITH THE AGENT?

No but you will need to sign a letter of authorisation (LOA) authorising the agent to sign on your behalf. The International Group has prepared a proforma LOA as contained in the most recent International Group circular on the Regulations. The proforma LOA is known to many approved agents and is already widely used. It has the footer "IG LoA dated 6 December 2011". It is recommended that this form be used. However, it is recommended that you also sign a contract with the MSA approved agent.

15. WE, AS THE OVERSEAS OWNER/OPERATOR NEED TO PUT INTO A PORT IN CHINA IN AN EMERGENCY. WE UNDERSTAND WE NEED TO CONCLUDE A CLEAN-UP CONTRACT WITH A SPRO, AND THAT THE MASTER CAN SIGN THE CLEAN-UP CONTRACT ON OUR BEHALF. DO WE NEED TO PROVIDE AN LOA TO THE MASTER?

Yes. You will need to provide authority by means of an LOA (as referred to in Q14 above) to the master. It is recommended that the LOA merely provides that "the master of xxxxx ship" has authority to sign and does not name the actual master, since it is possible that the master may change. See also Q.9 and the need for the company chop.

16. WE ARE AN OVERSEAS OPERATOR WITH A BRANCH OFFICE IN CHINA, DO WE NEED TO PROVIDE SPECIAL AUTHORITY TO OUR BRANCH OFFICE TO SIGN THE CONTRACT WITH THE SPRO? IF SO SHOULD THIS BE IN THE FORM OF A LOA?

MSA requires the branch office to file the certificate of incorporation (business certificate) and letter of authorisation to the China MSA. Some foreign operators' branches or offices in China have already filed details with China MSA and their names are published on the MSA website (msa.gov.cn).

Is there a proforma letter of authorisation for such a purpose?

The International Group has prepared a proforma letter of authorisation (as referred to in Q14 above) which can be used for this purpose.



This can be accessed on the club's website – <u>please click here</u>.

## 17. WHO IN OUR COMPANY CAN SIGN THE LETTER OF AUTHORISATION?

The Legal Representative of the company or other person authorised to sign on behalf of the company

18.DO WE, AS OWNER/OPERATOR, NEED TO SIGN A SEPARATE LOA TO AUTHORISE A PERSON TO SIGN EACH INDIVIDUAL SPRO CONTRACT OR CAN THE LOA BE SUFFICIENTLY BROAD TO INCLUDE SPROS IN SEVERAL DIFFERENT PORTS?

The operator only needs to send and sign one authorisation letter i.e. the same letter can be addressed to and name different agents that have been authorised to perform specific functions (if this is the case), or it can be addressed to one MSA approved agent who may be authorised to sign contracts with different SPROs in different ports for different vessels. This depends on which, and how many, MSA approved agents the owner/operator is going to authorise depending on the nature of the operator's operations and trade to China.

## THE AGENT IN CHINA

### 19. CAN WE APPOINT ANY PERSON TO BE OUR AGENT?

There are various companies that offer the service of agent for the purposes of contracting with SPRO's. Many of these are associated with consortia SPROs and are used to supplement the choice of SPRO in ports which are not covered by the consortia. However, at least three have no association with a particular consortium. These are CMS, Huatai and Sunic. In the case of many of these companies it will be necessary to sign a service contract with them if you wish to employ them. These contracts contain details of the nature of the services and fees charged. However, in some cases a letter of authorisation is considered sufficient. This would be the case if all that is needed is to sign a contract with a single SPRO.

The agent must be domiciled in mainland China and must meet certain requirements laid down in the Notice issued by the China MSA dated 22 December 2011. A list of agents that have met such requirements ispublished by the China MSA on the China MSA website: <a href="http://msa.gov.cn">http://msa.gov.cn</a>. Click here for an unofficial translation of the full list of MSA approved Agents as at 20 March with contact details where known.

Not all firms offering Agency services have MSA approval to offer services throughout China PRC. Some are only authorised to operate locally. The areas in which these agents are authorised to operate are shown on the table. There are other agents who are currently offering their services who are not approved by MSA to operate in any PRC ports. Members using the services of these firms should ensure that the actual contract is signed by the owner/operator and not by the agent. Failure to do so could result in rejection of the contract by the MSA.

## ELECTRONIC DOCUMENTS AND SIGNATURES



20.CAN THE CONTRACT WITH THE SPRO AND THE LOA WITH THE MSA APPROVED AGENT OR OTHER PARTY BE SIGNED IN ELECTRONIC FORM (PDF FORMAT) AND THEN SENT VIA EMAIL TO THE APPROPRIATE PERSONS OR AUTHORITIES?

Whilst, China MSA has confirmed that this is acceptable there is not yet a system in place to receive electronic communications.

## 21.TO WHERE SHOULD THE LETTER OF AUTHORISATION (LOA) BE SENT?

The LOA should be filed by the MSA approved agent. It is expected that in due course China MSA will announce an email address where LOAs can be lodged. Until such address is published the LOA should be sent by post/mail to MSA Beijing, c/o the Department of Ship Safety Pollution Prevention Department, for the attention of Mr Xu Shiming or Mr E Hailing.

### 22.TO WHERE SHOULD THE CONTRACT WITH SPROS BE SENT?

This should be sent to the local MSA by the SPRO in the case of individual contracts, see Article 10 of the IG recommended Sample Agreement issued by the Club and annexed to Circular No. 2011/41. However, in the case of a contract with a lead SPRO of a consortium, the contract should be sent to the MSA of all the port or ports which the owner/operator intends to use.

Clause I, last paragraph of MSA Notice 2011 No. 3 of 22 December states:

The foreign operator or its agent may, directly or by fax, submit the concluded agreement for ship pollution response and the power of attorney (letter of authorisation) to the maritime administration agency for handling ship's entry and exit or operation examination and approval formalities."

23.ARE THERE ANY SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS WITH REGARD TO ELECTRONIC SIGNATURES ON THE DOCUMENTATION?

No.

### LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE

### 24. WHO IS THE LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE OWNER/OPERATOR?

The "legal representative" means the Owners'/Operators' statutorily designated representative pursuant to their Articles of Association, or similar. This person should sign the authorisation letter for appointing an MSA approved agent and should also sign the contract if that option is chosen. This is the same legal representative that will be named in the contract. See page 5 of the contract with footer IG Sample Agreement dated 6 December 2011.



## 25. WHO IS THE LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE SPRO?

The "legal representative" means the SPRO's statutorily designated representative pursuant to its Articles of Association. Under Chinese law, the legal representative may delegate this power to one particular person within the company or to more persons if there are more, such as directors of the board, who may be authorised to sign legal documents in the articles of association. If this is the case those directors can also sign the contract. The Legal Representative of a SPRO will be named in the MSA approved list of SPROs. A Legal Representative of the SPRO must be named in the clean-upcontract and must sign it.

26.SHOULD THE PERSON SIGNING THE SPRO CONTRACT ON BEHALF OF THE SPRO BE THE REPRESENTATIVE LISTED IN THE APPROVED LIST OF SPROS? AND SHOULD THAT PERSON BE LISTED AS THE LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE IN THE LIST AT THE FRONT OF THE CONTRACT?

The same person may be named in the MSA approved SPROs' list and also sign the contract on behalf of the SPRO. However, it is possible that different persons may be authorised to sign.

## THE CONTRACT

### 27. IS THERE A PARTICULAR FORMAT FOR THE CONTRACT?

On 1 June 2011 the MSA published a model contract entitled "Sample Agreement" to be used when the owner/operator concludes a clean-up contract with a SPRO.

## 28. CAN ANY OF THESE ARTICLES IN THE CONTRACT BE CHANGED?

The articles relating to the rights and obligations of the parties to this contract are mandatory and therefore cannot be changed.

Additional clauses may be added to the Agreement. Recommended additional clauses have been developed by the International Group and included in a recommended IG Sample contract which may be found on the Club website. The IG additional clauses are already accepted by many SPROs.

It should be noted that an option chosen in Article 8 of the recommend IG Sample contract should be indicated by a "✓" in the box or filling in a blank, a decision to delete an option should be shown by an "x".

## 29. CAN WE SEE FROM THE CONTRACT WHICH THE RELEVANT LOCAL MSA IS?

Yes. The first two numbers of the header will show which MSA is involved. The Key to the MSAs is shown on page 4 of the Sample Agreement.



# 30.IF WE, AS THE OWNER/OPERATOR ARE CONTRACTING WITH AN UMBRELLA/ALLIANCE/CONSORTIUM SPRO WHO IS CONTRACTING ON BEHALF OF SEVERAL OTHER SPROS, WHICH NUMBER WILL BE INSERTED?

The number of the lead SPRO. Please note that under Clause III of MSA Notice 2011 No. 3 of 22 December 2011, the lead SPRO is required to obtain approval to form a consortium from China MSA and needs to meet the requirements laid down in that Notice, e.g. that all SPROs in the consortium are Level 1 SPROs.A list of MSA-approved umbrella SPROs/alliances/consortiais published on the China MSA website: <a href="http://msa.gov.cn.An">http://msa.gov.cn.An</a> unofficial translation into English of the list may be found by <a href="clicking here">clicking here</a>.

## 31.THE AGREEMENT REFERS TO PARTY A AND PARTY B. WHERE ARE THESE TERMS DEFINED?

The parties are named on page 5 of the Sample Agreement. Party A is the owner/operator. Party B is the SPRO.

## 32.WHAT ARE THE ADDITIONAL CLAUSES RECOMMENDED IN THE IG SAMPLE CONTRACT?

The International Group has recommended some additional clauses principally in relation to termination and insurance.

The International Group recommends that the owner/operator ensures that a Level 1 SPRO has at least RMB 2 million to cover its liabilities under the contract (principally Article 7 of the IG sample contract), Level 2: RMB 1.5 million, Level 3 RMB 1 million and Level 4 RMB 500,000. (Article 6)

It is recommended that the Agreement include a clause permitting the parties to terminate during a response to an incident after discussion with MSA. (Article 6)

It is recommended that in Article 8 the parties choose the courts of China to resolve disputes.

It should be noted that "✓" should be used instead of "x" in Art. 8 of the recommend IG Sample Agreement because the former means the two parties has made the choice and the latter means the parties choose to delete it in accordance with paragraph 4 of the opening introduction of MSA Sample Agreement.

# 33.IF WE ARE IN DOUBT ON THE CONTRACT TERMS, OR WE RECEIVE A CONTRACT WHICH IS DIFFERENT TO THE RECOMMENDED IG SAMPLE AGREEMENT, WHAT SHOULD WE DO?

Contact your Clubas entering into a SPRO contract with terms differing from those in the recommended IG Sample Agreement could result in Club cover problems.



## 34.THE SPRO IS "MSA APPROVED" BUT DOES NOT ACCEPT THE INSURANCE PROVISION OF THE SUPPLEMENTAL CLAUSES, WHAT SHOULD WE DO?

Contact your Club. If there is a possibility of contracting with a SPRO in a particular port which has insurance and whose contract conforms, the member should opt for the SPRO with insurance. When it is necessary to contract with a SPRO on an urgent basis and none are available with insurance in the area, then it would seem reasonable to suggest that the contract should just be for that voyage and not the annual contract. It should be noted that some SPROs do not realise that insurance of the type required, is available in China PRC. It is possible to obtain this insurance from PICC Property and Casualty Company Limited. The relevant policy bears the footer "Version 2" Contact details for PICC can be obtained from the Club. Ping An are also developing a policy. Please note that any insurance policies have to be reviewed by the club.

# 35.THE SPRO IS "MSA APPROVED" BUT DOES NOT ACCEPT THE TERMINATION OF WORK PROVISION OF THE SUPPLEMENTAL CLAUSES, WHAT SHOULD WE DO?

Contact your Club. Again, if this has to be accepted in the case of an emergency it is suggested that the contract be entered into on a voyage basis. However, it should be noted that the MSA Sample Agreement does contain a clause relating to termination of the contract (when not engaged in clean up) (Article 6,2). Care should therefore be taken to ensure that an appropriate notice period e.g. 30 days is inserted in this clause in any event.

## 36.ARE WE, THE OWNER/OPERATOR, FREE TO CONTRACT WITH ANY SPRO APPROVED BY THE MSA?

Yes, depending on whether the SPRO has the appropriate level of qualification, SPROs may be qualified for different levels. Click here for the list of SPROs. Level 1 is the highest level of qualification. The criteria for determining the level of SPRO are shown in the guidelines for the capacity evaluations of ship pollution clean units published on 1 June 2011. Please note whilst a SPRO may have MSA approval, in order not to prejudice club cover an owner should ensure before signing a contract with a SPRO that certain conditions are fulfilled, namely that the SPRO's contract is on the International Group recommended wording, that the SPRO has acceptable insurance and that the SPRO's clean-up response tariff has been reviewed by ITOPF and found acceptable. If an SPRO offers a contract with wording other than the IG wording, fails to provide evidence of acceptable insurance (Q&A34) and fails to provide an acceptable tariff (Q&A 52) you should contact your club. Level 1 approval is carried out by China (Beijing) MSA, approval of other levels is carried out by local MSAs.

# 37.HOW DO WE, THE OWNER/OPERATOR DETERMINE IF THE CARGO THAT OUR SHIP IS CARRYING MEANS THAT IT FALLS WITHIN THE SCOPE OF THE CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS?

If the vessel is carrying oil in bulk or a "liquid hazardous cargo other than oil in bulk" then the contract requirements will apply.



The MSA issued a Notice in February 2011 with an accompanying "Catalogue of Cargoes Apt to Cause Pollution during Ocean Carriage" for the purposes of the Regulations and the MSA Sample Agreement. In terms of those cargoes not listed, the Notice states that "Cargoes that are not listed in the Catalog but are suspected of apt to cause pollution and cargoes with uncertainty whether apt to cause pollution shall be submitted to an appraisal agency recognized by the Maritime Safety Administration for test and assessment." It has been confirmed that the list pertains only to cargoes carried in bulk and not those carried in containers. It does however include liquefied gases.

The Catalogue in Chinese can be found on the following website:

http://msa.gov.cn/Notice/NotList/0000000-0000-0300-04000000006

The MSA has confirmed that semi-submersibles and Mobile Offshore Drilling Units(MODUs) must meet the requirements.

## 38.ANNEX IV IN SOME VERSIONS REFERS TO CLASSES 1— 4. ARE THESE THE SAME AS LEVELS?

Yes.

## 39.SHOULD WE, THE OWNER/OPERATOR SIGN THE CONTRACT ON A VOYAGE BASIS OR ANNUAL BASIS OR OTHERWISE?

This will depend on the trading pattern of the ship and is left to the discretion of the individual member. However if a member due to an emergency is forced to sign a contract which does not conform with the International Group guidelines, or for which the response tariff is unreasonably high, it is recommended that this is done on a voyage basis to allow an opportunity for further negotiation for any subsequent calls. The contract will be valid for the period of time agreed between the operator and the SPRO. The contract contains a clause that allows for it to be agreed for a fixed term of years or months, or on a per voyage basis.

# 40.ARE ANY LOCAL MSAS OR SPROS PROHIBITING OWNERS FROM SIGNING CONTRACTS ON A VOYAGE BASIS AND REQUIRING THEM TO SIGN CONTRACTS ON AN ANNUAL BASIS?

It would be in contravention of China MSA Notice 2011 No.3 dated 22 December 2011 and also the MSA's Detailed Rules if any local MSAs or SPROs prohibited the signature of contracts on a single voyage or annual basis.

# 41.THE AREA WE ARE TRADING TO DOES NOT HAVE ANY SPRO WITH WHICH OUR VESSELS ARE REQUIRED TO CONTRACT, WHAT SHOULD WE DO?

In accordance with Supplementary Notice No. 359 of July 2011, Clause 3 and Clause VI of MSA Notice 2011 No. 3, the MSA may, as a temporary measure, permit a contract with an approved SPRO from a nearby port to be used where none is available in the relevant port. In addition some local MSAs have introduced their own temporary measures, e.g. Liaoning, Tianjin and Yingkou. Where no SPRO appears on the list of MSA approved



SPROs for the port in question, members are recommended to check with their agents to find out whether temporary measures are in place in that port.

42.CAN WE, AS OWNER/OPERATOR ENTER INTO ONE CONTRACT WITH A SPECIFIC SPRO BUT FOR A NUMBER OF DIFFERENT VESSELS CALLING AT THE PORT WHERE THE SPRO HAS BEEN APPROVED?

Yes, the contract allows for this, see Appendix 1 of the recommended IG Sample Agreement.

43.WE, THE OWNER/OPERATOR UNDERSTAND THAT THE REQUIREMENTS DO NOT APPLY TO INLAND WATERWAYS IN CHINA PRC INCLUDING PORTS ON THE YANGTZE RIVER. IS THIS TRUE?

Yes, with the exception of Nantong. It is understood that the requirements will only apply to Nantong Port on the Yangtze River.

44.WE, THE OWNER/OPERATOR, ARE TAKING DELIVERY OF A NEW VESSEL IN A CHINESE PORT. WILL WE NEED TO ENSURE THAT A CONTRACT IS IN PLACE WITH AN APPROVED SPRO FOR THAT VESSEL FOR THE PURPOSES OF ITS MAIDEN VOYAGE EVEN IF IT IS NOT CALLING AT A CHINESE PORT IN THE FOLLOWING YEAR?

Yes.

### ONE STOP SERVICE/ UMBRELLA SPROS/ ALLIANCES/ CONSORTIA

In accordance with Clause 4 of the Supplementary Notice on Relevant Issues Concerning the Implementation of the Regime of Agreement for Ship Pollution Response, a SPRO may, acting on behalf of its branches or interlocking units, provide a one stop service.

The MSA requires the umbrella SPROs/alliances/consortia to supplyall relevant documents to the China MSA for review as laid down in MSA Notice 2011 No. 3 issued by the China MSA dated 22 December 2011, Clause III. Therefore, before signing a contract with an umbrella SPRO/alliance/consortium on behalf of all members of the umbrella SPRO/alliance/consortium, operators should check that it has been approved by the China MSA. A list of MSA-approved umbrella SPROs/alliances/consortiais published on the China MSA website: <a href="http://msa.gov.cn.An">http://msa.gov.cn.An</a> An unofficial translation into English of the list may be found by clicking here.

45.CAN WE, AS THE OWNER/OPERATOR, ENTER INTO A CONTRACT UNDER THE UMBRELLA OF ONE SPRO THAT HAS BEEN APPROVED IN DIFFERENT PORTS?

In addition, can a SPRO have representatives in various Chinese ports that will be included in one contract for these ports or must each operator contract with different SPROs depending on the port?



Yes. There is provision for one SPRO to form an alliance/consortium with SPROs in other ports. If the umbrella/consortium is fully operational this SPRO, known as the "lead SPRO", may then contract with an owner/operator on behalf of other SPROs under its umbrella/consortium provided those SPROs are included in the published list of MSA approved umbrella/consortia (see Q&A 46 below). In any event, the parties under the agreement are the owner/operator and the SPRO in the relevant port for the purposes of operational matters. The exception to this is the consortium of One Call Oil Spill Response Chain Organization where notifications under Article 1 of the Agreement are centralised.

Whilst it is not compulsory to file a signed contract according to Article 25 of the Detailed Rules, this may facilitate entrance of the ship to port. Furthermore some local MSAs require the contract to be filed. Therefore it is recommended that the relevant contract is filed with the relevant MSA at each port of call.

46.DOWE HAVE THE NAMES OF THOSE "UMBRELLA" ALLIANCES/CONSORTIA?

YES. A LIST OF MSA-APPROVED UMBRELLA SPROS/ALLIANCES/CONSORTIA IS PUBLISHED ON THE CHINA MSA WEBSITE: <a href="http://msa.gov.cn"><u>HTTP://msa.gov.cn</u></a>. AN UNOFFICIAL TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH IS TO BE FOUND ON CLUB WEBSITES. THIS LIST PROVIDES THE NAME OF THE CONSORTIUM, THE LEAD SPRO WHO WILL CONTRACT ON BEHALF OF THE OTHER SPROS IN THE CONSORTIUM, AND THE MEMBERS OF THE CONSORTIUM. THIS LIST VARIES FROM TIME TO TIME AS MEMBERS OF THE CONSORTIUM ARE ADDED OR REMOVED.

In addition OSRO China (based in Hong Kong) offers a service to facilitate an alliance of SPROs in China. Shenzhen Pearl River Jia Ren Oil Spill Response operates an alliance of 3 SPROs.

It would seem that the umbrella/alliance/consortium SPROs intend to charge response tariff for all the SPROs in their individual umbrella as required under Clause III.3 of MSA Notice 2011 No. 3. However, the response tariff varies from consortia to consortia.

With regard to retainer fees/standby rates, there is no uniform rate. This has not proved possible due to special rules or agreements which govern certain ports. (see Q&A 56 below)

The Shanghai Union is another exception. This is a Group of Level 1 SPROs based in Shanghai who have agreed to contract on the same terms and to charge the same fees.

## 47.DOES A COPY OF THE CONTRACT NEED TO BE KEPT ON BOARD?

Yes it does. Article 1.2 requires Party A (owner/operator) to keep a copy of the Agreement on board all the ships listed in the Agreement and to make sure that the crew are familiar with the Agreement.



## 48.DOES THE AGREEMENT REQUIRE THE PARTY A TO KEEP ANY OTHER DOCUMENTS ON BOARD?

Yes. Article 1.2 of the Sample Agreement also requires Party A to keep on board a copy of the Pollution Response Operation Plan formulated by Party B.

### 49. WHAT IS A POLLUTION RESPONSE OPERATION PLAN (PROP)?

A Pollution Response Operation Plan or PROP is a contingency plan prepared by the SPRO for implementation in the case of a spill. It is reviewed by MSA as part of the SPRO assessment for approval. The PROP must be filed by the SPRO with the local MSA. Before signing the contract the owner should askthe SPRO for a copy, since under Article 1.2 of the clean-up Agreement the PROP should be kept on board and provided to the owner in English and Chinese, and the ship's crew should be familiar with its contents.

### **RETAINER/STANDBY FEES**

The retainer/standby fees to be charged by the SPRO will be listed in Appendix II.1 of the Sample Agreement. The law states that such fees should be reasonable (Article 20 of the Detailed Rules and MSA 2011 Notice No. 2). The China Association of Communication Enterprise Management (CACEM) published a guidance document on fees to be charged by way of retainer, including a revised set of reduced retainer fees published on 9 December2011, although the reduction is not significant and their retainer fees are still considered to be unreasonably high.

Some retainer fees are published in Chinese on the web site of the Yantai Centre (<a href="www.osp.cn">www.osp.cn</a>). Some SPROs in a particular port have agreed to all charge the same fee, e.g. Rizhao and Tianjin. The local MSA may publish the fee structures, e.g. in Liaoning, Shanghai and Tianjin.

### 50.ARE RETAINER FEES COVERED BY THE CLUB?

No. This is an operational expense.

## 51.AT WHICH POINT ON THE SHIP'S ARRIVAL WOULD IT BE REASONABLE TO EXPECT THE SPRO TO CHARGE A RETAINER FEE?

Since the SPRO should be on standby from the point at which the ship enters the service zone it would be reasonable to charge the retainer fee from this point. However, there is no law which governs how and when the SPRO can charge retainer fees. This is a matter for individual negotiation.

### **RESPONSE TARIFFS**

Appendix II.2 of the Sample Agreement sets out the response tariff, i.e. the costs which will be charged in the case of a spill.



## 52. HOW DO WE DETERMINE IF THE RESPONSE TARIFFS ARE REASONABLE?

Members should ensure that response tariffs are incorporated into the contracts and should contact their Club if the response tariff has not previously been considered by the International Group.

## 53. IF THE AGENT BECOMES BANKRUPT, OR DISAPPEARS, WILL THE CONTRACT WITH THE SPRO BECOME INVALID?

Whilst the law is not explicit on this point, it is considered likely that if the agent becomes bankrupt or disappears, the contract between the owner/operator and the SPRO will remain valid. However, the contract between the owner/operator and the agent will no longer be valid.

# 54.IS THERE AN INTERNATIONAL GROUP RECOMMENDED CHARTER PARTY CLAUSE TO DESCRIBE THE DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES BETWEEN OWNER AND CHARTERER FOR COMPLIANCE WITH THE NEW REGULATIONS?

No. However, members should ensure that the terms of the charterparty do not prevent the owner from being the contracting party for the clean-up Agreement (see Q&A 13).

## 55.ARE THERE ANY PENALTIES IF I DO NOT CONCLUDE A CONTRACT WITH A SPRO?

Yes. Article 68 of the Regulations states that failure to conclude a clean-up contract can result in a fine of between RMB 10,000 and RMB 50,000. Article 58 provides that if a ship does not comply with the regulations, the MSA can order rectification of the omission and if this fails they can prevent the ship from entry to or departure from a port.

## 56. ARE THERE ANY RULES WHICH APPLY TO PARTICULAR PROVINCES OR PORTS?

There are no special rules provided by China MSA to govern a particular province or port, however some local MSAs issued their own rules and notices, most of which are in accordance with the published by China Minstry of Transport (MOT) and China MSA. In addition some local rules and notices contain difference requirements.

The Rules of MSA Shanghai require ships to sign confirmation form before the ships can depart from the port. In addition although overseas operators can sign the contract directly with MSA approved SPROs, as regards overseas operators with branch offices in Shanghai, the signed contract should be confirmed by that branch office or if overseas operators do not have branch office in Shanghai but do have a branch office in other locations in China by that branch office.



### CHECK LIST FOR CONTRACTS:

- 1. Is the SPRO contract in the IG recommended form? If "No" see Q&A 33
- 2. Has the SPRO provided evidence of insurance? Q&A 34
- 3. Has the SPRO provided a clean-up response tariff? Q&A 52
- 4. Does the contract provide for standby/retainer fees? Q&A 51
- 5. Is the person signing the contract on behalf of the owner/operator either the Legal Representative of the owner/operator, the Legal Representative in the MSA's approved owner/operator branch office, an MSA Approved Agent (Q&A 7-13)?
- 6. Has the MSA approved agents been provided with an LOA? Q&A 14

